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1. Name of Property
historic name Klepzig, Walter, Mill and Farm
other names/site number

2. Location
street & number  Ozark National Scenic Riverwavs (OZAR)

__I not for publication

city, town Eminence | x | vicinity
state Missouri code MO county Shannon code 203 zip code 65466
3. Classification
Ownership of Property Category of Property Number of Resources within Property
|:| private D building(s) Contributing Noncontributing
[ ] public-local district 3 2 buiidings
[ public-State [ site 3 1 sites
L_x] pubtic-Federal E] structure 1 1_structures
[ object 0 0_objects
7 3 Totai
Name of related multiple property listing: Number of contributing resources previousty
N/A listed in the National Register 0

4. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966, as amended, | hereby certify that this

nomination request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the
National Register of Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60,
In my opinion, the property Dmeets |:|does not meet the National Register criteria. DSee continuation sheet.

Signature of cenrtifying official Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

In my opinign L. X! mee __|doeg not meet the Nationalﬂ%ster criteria. [_] See continuatian sheet.
; 4 ﬂ.LL— M ) i@a&ﬁﬂ

Signature of commenting or other OW_-‘ Tracy Mehar III{ Director Date
Department of Natural Hesources and State Historic Preservation Officer

State or Federal agency and bureau

5. National Park Service Certification
1, hereby, certify that this property is:

Dentered in the National Register.
D See continuation sheset,

[]determined eligible for the National
Register. D See continuation sheet.

Ddetermined not eligible for the
National Register.

Dremoved trom the National Register.
[ Jother, (explain:)

Signature of the Keeper Date of Action
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6. Function or Use

Historic Functions (enter categaries fram instructions)
AGRICULTURE/SUBSISTENCE/processing LANDSCAPE /park
AGRICULTURE/SUBSISTENCE/agricultural field ACRICUTTUREfagricutryral field
DOMESTIC/single dwelling
DOMESTIC/secondary structure

Current Functions (enter categories from mstructions)

7. Description

Architectural Classification
{enter categories from instructions)

Materials (enter categories from instructions)

foundation STONE: limestone

OTHER: sawmill or box walls WOOD
roof METAL: iron
other CONCRETE,

Describe present and historic physical appearance.

Summary Paragraph

The Klepzig Farm Complex is comprised of 121 acres of forested
hillside and cleared bottomland flanking Rocky Creek in eastern
Shannon County. The complex includes a structural cluster consisting
of a mill (c. 1912) and its related hydraulic system {(c¢. 1%912-1935): a
springhouse and smokehouse (c¢. 192@-1925); foundations of a 1923
farmhouse and c. 1%29-1925% barn; and two post-1934 chicken coops and a
ruin of a post-1934 machine shed. The building cluster is unchanged
in location since before 1912 and its relationship to the landscape
remains intact from the period of significance. The standing pre-1937
structures have been modified little, retaining the materials and
characteristics associated with them during the 1912-1936é occupancy of
the complex. '

Setting
Rocky Creek is one of scores of small streams which flow through the

deeply cut valleys of the southern Courtols Hills in southeastern
Missouri. North of the present-day highway NN, just east of where
Rocky Creek flows between two high bluffs (of Buzzard Mountain and
Mill Mountain) in a narrow gorge -- regionally known as a "shut-in" --
it emerges into a wvalley, the floor of which is about sixty acres. It
is in and adjacent to this valley that the complex is located. The
structural cluster is located in the valley at an elevation of 600
feet. The closely surrounding hills rise sharply up to 1140 feet.

The c¢reek continues east and drops through another gorge approximately
thirty feet deep and ninety feet wide. Scattered in this gorge are
large rock formations around or over which the stream flows. The
elevation at the mouth of Rocky Creek at the Curremnt River, two miles
to the east, is 54@ feet. Though the rate of change in elevation here
is slightly greater than the average, the terrain is generally typical
of the southern Courtois Hill region. o : o IR

Farm Complex : .
The farm complex, including the structural cluster, is located mostly
on the relatively flat land east and south of Rocky Creek in Section
6. The site includes a year-round spring and is more than twenty feet
above the level of the creek. 1In the period of significance, the
surrounding hills were covered with a virgin pine and oak forest. 1In
the late 192@s and the 193@s, owner Walter Klepzig (1912-1935) was

See continuation sheet
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tie A 2iter Fl2gpZig @ 5342 2L wn Zarm, tne Tiaser wvas o run

and new ow sesond rrownn o silne and a4 ZOorest IIVers Toae al.liS
A {imately Loeny avras a7 alsared land g adijacsent to tne htuse
Site and oubtounloiooe, This f12ld ramal’.s -aes Same 3122 3E 11 the
period I significance, 21t tuo subgequsnnt Tree rous and fence iines
and tpe igsapp=2arance 2f a2 ggall peach orchard and most originzd
f2ncing nave unsuisstantially modified itns appearance An additional
much smaller ciear=sd fi2ld 1s one-guarter m1ls 2ast, on tle soutn s1ide
of the creek. Xilepziz oslanted row crcopzs and hay and maintained some
fizlds as pastures, Thae row o ercps Wess repoaced wlt pastasage afTer
XKlepzig's sale in L1935, and sinee the Naticonal Park Service acquired
the property i1n 1874 all of the fields nave bheen planted zn hav.
Connz2ting the twe £ia2lds is a ten-foor wide dirt road in the same (oc¢
Zor & distance 2losely paralleling the same) location of a road
partrally constructed by Klepzig. It arrives at the farm in a
nertneastersly directisn from its intersection with Routa 7 three miles
avay., Lo rfaords Recxy ZTreek and continues through the comple
saparating the dvuelling site from the ereek and mill alte It then
continues past the small east field and on to intersect with Route NN
one mile farther. ®East of the conplex tine -cad is improved and

occasicnally graded.

Parall=sling and immediately adjacent to ths <current road from the ford
to the house site (3690 feet) 1is an older overgrown and pre-1935 fence-
bordered five-foot wide dirt reocad which dates to the Klepzig era.

Intersecting with the current road just east of the house site is a
well-preserved 23@-foot sectlon of pre-1912 rocad which leads to the
mill and continues northeast to again ford Rocky Creek. It is
presently used as part o»f the Ozark Trail. Additional =mall seyments
of this road are barely visibhle on the north side 0of the creek and at
an additional ford where it re-crcssed to tne scouth bank and continued
through the east £f£ield. This earliest route to and through the farm
is identifiable by these surviving segments. A quarter-mile section
of the current rcad, from the east field to the intersection with the
older road coming from the mill, was first constructed by Klepzig and
his neighbors. The segment of current road running west from that
intersection veers north from the road of Klepzig’s era by up to
fifteen feet, slightly affecting the spatial relationship bhetween the
house, barn, and the road. The pre-1935 road sections are a contrib-
uting structure; the newer road is a non-contributing structure.

1, however, the spatial relationship between fields, structural
r, ¢reek, and the surrcunding forested hills is retained from
riod of significance, and no structures are outside the cluster
shed prior to 1935. The landscape is a contrikbuting site.
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Klepzig Mill

The mill {List of Classified Structures [LCS] number @6484) survives
in the location Walter Klepzig moved it about 1928. It is on the
steep south bank of Rocky Creek, 709 feet northeast of the house site.
The original 12° X 2@’ single-story building was appended with a 7'3"
X 9'2" extension by A.C. Brandt (owner, 1935-1974) resulting in an ell
configuration. Its construction type is locally known as "sawmill” or
"box" reflecting its construction without framing of vertical boards
nailed to a sill at the top and bottom, and with corner boards nailed
together. The original portion is of 18- to 13-inch boards, while the
addition is of 4- to 12-inch boards. The exterior of hoth sections
has battens and traces of silver paint. The south wall rests on grade
on a rubble-stone foundation wall, while the remainder of the
structure is supported by various dimension timber posts. The gable
roof is covered with corrugated iron. ©On the south face is a 31-inch
three-board plank door remaining. An additional 11-1/2-inch single-
board door is 46 inches east. The smaller door utilizes a scrap metal
hinge, possibly from the hood of a Model "A" Ford truck. In front of
the larger door are fragments of a wood loading platform. One window
punctuates each of the east and west walls and the east wall of the
ell. A 23-inch door opening, likely not from the Klepzig era, is in
the north wall. Inside, the original building and add-on forebay are
open as one room, with the top of the concrete turbine well in the
forebay. A meal storage bin {c. 1928-3@) is built onto the east wall.
On the bin are a switch and wiring surviving from the electric
generator once housed in the mill.

Condition: Good, having been stabilized and partially restored by the
National Park Service in 1987. Some detail elements such as window
sashes and screens are missing. The loading porch has all but
disappeared. All milling and electric¢ generation equipment has been
removed with the exception of the turbine and its shafts (the mill
stones are in the possession of the National Park Service but not at
the site).

Integrity: The mill building is substantially the same as constructed
{c. 1912), with the exceptions of the added forebay shed and the post-
1944 metal roof. The shed excension was likely added in 193¢
utilizing the same construction method as the original, but with
generally smaller boards. The 1987 stabilization involved the in-kind
replacement of several support posts and about a dozen missing
vertical boards and the stabilization of the stone foundation wall.
Evidence of both pre-and post-1935 use remains intact. The mill was
moved to its current location during its most significant era and is
at the location of the earliest known milling activities at the site.
Its relationship with the early road and the remainder of the conplex
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remalns clearly evident. It, with its hydraulic system, is a
contributing building.

Hydraulic System _
The hydraulic system consists of a ninety-foot dam which utilizes
reinforced concrete to £ill gaps between natural rock formations
across the creek channel. A steel sluice gate in the dam leads to a
small holding pond and on to another sluice gate at the entrance to a
narrow sixty-foot-long concrete and natural rock race which ends at
the fourteen-foot-high concrete turbine well under the mill shed. The
well has an inside diameter of 48 inches. At its bottom is a ten-inch

James Leffel Sampson turbine.

Condition: The dam is badly eroded, with large sections missing. The
race is also in poor condition, but substantial remains clearly mark
its course. The turbine well and turbine are in very good condition.

Integrity: The turbine and well survive from XKlepzig’s construction.
The dam and race were built by A.. Brandt in 1935~36 to replace
Klepzig’'s less substantial masonry and wood components. All
components are similar in location to their pre-1912 equivalents,
except the dam which is slightly (less than twenty feet) west of
earlier locations.

Qther Standing Structures
Springhouse (LCS~96482): Single-story, 8’ x 14’ "sawmill" structure,

575 feet east of house site. Has: post-1944 corrugated-iron covered
gable roof; rough-sawn clapboards over most of exterior planks;
partial concrete foundation with concrete storage trough; a single
door into the south room and single windows on the west and east walls
of the north room; remnants of an interior dividing wall; and widely
spaced vertical boards covered with chicken wire as the walls of the
south room. The structure was painted white. Fair condition, with
about half the clapboards removed.

Smokehouse (LCS @648@): Single-story 14’ x 16° "sawmill"™ structure, 20
feet southeast of house site. Has: corrugated-iron covered gable
roof; concrete foundation; standing-height root cellar; a single
window on the north and south walls; a wood floor; a loft, and a 3’ x
4’ plank-walled room in the northeast corner; two plank doors, one
with four concrete outside steps up to it, one with three concrete and
three wood inside steps down into the cellar. The cellar has one
four-light window on the south wall, and a small hinged door on the
north foundation wall. It is in good conditicon.

Chicken Laying House: 8-1/2' x 16-1/2', "sawmill" structure 10@ feet
southeast of house site, Interior dividing wall is of single-width
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Aorizoental ocoasds oho33s 105 oo timnper foundation., It i3 in
D33 CondlTion WLIRR The south vral 1ng nearly complately a2stroyed.
An additizcnal chicken coop 1s # o reed 2as<l truck podvy whios oz
al2gryrle lognnoLng components 1nsc 4
Integrity The springhcodss and smoxkehouse, with the 2xeeption of
thelyr metal racis, are largely unchanged since tLheis construction by
Klepziyg Tnery relation t2 tTie house site remains evident, They are
conteiluting huildings The chiecken cocps date to tha Brandt era ang
are located lifferentilv than Klepziy's whose were southwest of <he
house towvaprd Tas 2gulpment gned, The "sgawmill" <oop and truck hody
ar: counted az nop-contributing buildings.

Identifiabie Structural Sites

Incendiary fires at the gcomplax In recent years have resulted in the
loss of fcur siqnificant structures. Two o0f£ them, however, are wel]
repregent2d 1n the structural ccmplex by their complete toundatlons

story frame 247 ¥ 28’ house,
buile in 1223% on the site of 2 1912 log cabin, is represented by
the 4-:/2" high fcundation walls, fhe 1w % 12 concrete foeont porch
with its ornamental stairs, and the concrete c¢himney and brick-lined
fireplace. The foundation is in fair condition and is easily visible
from the rcad and other farm structures. It is this house from which
other district rescurces nave been measured.

Xlepzig Huowss (L35 @8478): Ta

r‘ik*

fZ-
& -

J”H

— O w

Klepzig Barn (LTS ©@6479): The 2-1/2-story, 24’ x 35’ structure 1is
renresented by its 6 to 3@ inch high concrete foundation walls, a
concrete milking pad, and the stone foundation of a shed extension.
The ruin is in good conditieon and is visible from the road. It is 2753
feet east of the house site.

Stock Shed (LC3 ©7481): This single-story 15° x 24’ loy and frame
structure was located about 1090 feet east of the house. It rested on
wood sills on stone piers, and its site is located by surface
topography and foundation pier remnants.

Brandt House: Thiz 1936, 24@0-sg. f£ft. two-story log house is marked
today only by surviving ornamental shrubbery. It was 60@Q feet east of
the Klepzig house and about 3¢9 feet southwest of the mill {(which was
converted in 1935 to supply electricity to the Brandt house and farm}).
This heouse yas separated from the original structural complex -- the
Klepzig house and outbuildings -- by a wooded area and small ravine.

Integrity: The Klepzig house and zarn.sites are easily located,
contributing to the understanding of spatial relationships on the
farm. These ruins are contributiag sites, The =ztoce shed and Brandr
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house sites are not evident features of the overall landscape and are
not counted as individual resources.

ODther ruins

Three additicnal Brandt-era chicken brooder houses were in a straight
13@-foot line south of the standing laying house. Also, 20@¢ feet
south of the house site was a post-1936 Brandt-era 32’ x 34° farm-
machine shed (LCS ©6478). These buildings have collapsed and the
resulting debris will likely be removed from the site. The machine
shed will be marked by its c¢oncrete and stone foundations, and is a
non-contributing site.

Qverall]l Integrity

Standing at the Klepzig mill or house site today, one will see in any
direction essentially the same vista viewed in 193@. The ocutline of
the 1939 fields remain with the same forested hills surrounding then.
The structural cluster is related to the fields in the same manner,
with however the house and barn missing {(though their past presence
and importance are made known by their foundations}, and with only
minor additions to the cluster. The extensive use of regionally-
common sawmill construction techniques is illustrated in the well-
preserved mill and smokehouse. Most importantly, the relationship of
the mill to the farm complex, and the mill and farm to the rugged
topography, including the bottomland fields, the fast-flowing creek,
the still-running spring, and hillside forests, is preserved. It is
these relationships and the feeling they evoke that are the essence of
this property, as they quickly and assertively demonstrate that the
mill was not isolated but was part of a farm operation which itself
was shaped and limited by its environment.




8. Statement of Significance
Certifying official has considered the significance of this property in reiation to other properties:

L _;nationally [ statewide ~_locally

(S

T T

Applicable National Register Criteria A |8 [gC [ D

Criteria Considerations (Exceptions) [ JA [ 18 [ic [Jo Je [Jr "lG

Areas of Significance (enter categories from instructions) Period of Significance Significant Dates
AGRICILTURE 1912-1936 1912
ARCHITECTIRE 1935
COMMERCE,

Culturai Affiliation

N/A
Significant Person Architect/Builder
N/A Klepzig, Walter

Brandt, Arthur C,

State significance of prope nd justify criteria_ criteria considerations, and areas and periods of significance nogted above.
fﬁg %Tepzfgpﬁyli fs ne of five extant mi is in E%e porglons e

Reynolds, Shannon, Dent, Wayne, Oregon, and Carter counties within the
Southern Courtois Hills region, the most rugged district within the
Missouri Ozarks. The Klepzig is the only one of "sawmill" -
construction. . The majority of the other mills have survived partly
because of their unusual size for the regicn. They were built and/or
operated as merchant roller mills, constructed or enlarged in the
188@s and later. Of the dozens of smaller, rural grist mills once in
the region, only the Klepzig survives. The Klepzig farm is one of
very few grist mill sites which continues to communicate the
relationship between a small Ozark mill and the farm of which it is a
part. It also illustrates a progression of such a complex through the
second of three major periods of southeast Missouri Ozarks history,
the "New South Ozarks." Thus the farm is significant for its
representation of the combination of agriculture and commerce on a
small New South Ozarks farm, and the mill is also significant for its
architectural style as the only surviving representative of sawmill
construction of a mill. Sawmill construction is a once-popular
regional vernacular style. The farm and its mill are eligible for
National Register inclusion under c¢riteria "A" and "C." :

Klepzig Farm ‘ . . : »
Rural Ozark grist mills were usually operated by the farmers whe owned
them as part of their self-sufficient farming endeavors. The Klepzig
Mill today does not stand isolated as do each of the other mills still
in the Southern Courtois Hills region. : Surrounding the mill are other
structures and a landscape substantially unchanged since the years of
the mill’s operation. The 78-acre grant originally made by the United
States Government to David Reed in 1857 had been expanded to 121 acres
prior to Walter Klepzig’'s 1912 purchase and the farm remained
substantially the same size and configuration from 1898 until after
1935. When Walter Klepzig acquired the farm in 1912, improvements
included a log cabin and the remains of a flood-destroyed mill. A
poorly improved road led from the Current River to the farm and
continued southwest toward Winona. The pre-1912 farm appears to have

[:;]See continuation shest
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been laid out according to traditional criteria, with the house in
close proximity to a spring and located 20 to 120 feet above the
valley flcoor, and with only a very small number of its 121 acres
cleared or even potentially available for cultivation. The location’s
suitability as a mill seat was likely immediately apparent to early
owners. Most stream beds in the area were too choked with chert
gravel to build dams, but fast flowing spring branches and narrow
shut-ins were ideal mill sites.’ The per acre price of the farm
varied widely from its second sgale in 1877 (519.0@) to Klepzig’'s
purchase in 1912 ($5.5@), reaching a low of one dollar in 1899.
Perhaps the fluctuations in part reflected the existence and condition
of the pre-1912 mill. Among the farm’s early owners were G.W.
McCaskill and Joshua Sholar, two local leaders in the New South Ozarks
era sparked by the timber boom and the introduction of the railroad
into the region. McCaskill was one of three ambitious native Shannon
County brothers who built and operated numerous grist- and sawmills
and other large-scale commercial enterprises in the area. He
purchased this farm in 1899Q, only three years before he bought at
auction a similar small gristmill and farm at Alley, Missouri, where
he constructed a modern roller mill. The Rocky Creek farm must have
appealed to him as an excellent mill site. However, only two months
after his purchase he sold the Rocky Creek farm. Joshua Sholar bought
it eight months later and Kkept it until 1898, part of which time he
was editor of the Current Wave in Shannon County. As editor, in 1896,
he wrote deploring the reluctance of Shannon County farmers to join
the new, i.e. the New South, business order. He advocated increased
crop production and the conversion of excess grain to flour and meal
for market sales.’ Tt is not unlikely that a mill was in place by the
189@-1898 ownership of the farm by McCaskill and Sholar. Local legend
substantiates that the mill had been there for years before the 1895%
"Winona flood."” The price per acre of the farm remained at a high
36.50 through three transactions during this period.

Walter Klepzig made further improvements after his 1912 purchase.
Additional acreage was cleared, but still only about 45 acres were
suitable for cultivation. In addition to the reconstruction of the
mill, the road to the farm and mill was greatly improved, a new house
equal to any house "in town" replaced the log cabin, and a springhouse
and large milking barn were constructed. Klepzig, son of "Prussian
German" Charles Klepzig, ancother Shannon County entrepreneur, also was
influenced by the New Scuth business order. Among his neighbors he
was first to introduce both barbed and woven wire fence and a refined
breed of milk cow, and to take advantage of outside marketing
opportunities such as shipping cream to Beatrice, Nebraska, for

_pProcessing. With his progressive agricultural methods and his mill

runhing at times to near capacity, the family enjoyed a simple
prosperity that allowed them small luxuries such as the first radio
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"in the country." However, their life remained typically Ozark as
well., Like their neighbors, the Klepzigs’ diet was primarily
cornbread, with some flour biscuits "of a mocrning." Walter's son,
Claude, recalls the hike along the shut-ins to his one-rcocom school as
being "bad on sore toes.” Trading was done in the closest town,
Winona, but only about four times a year. OQak trees were cut from the
farm and railroad ties hewed from them as an additional source of cash
income. Self-sufficiency was s5till a must -- Klepzig had his own
blacksmith shop and was an excellent carpenter, but he also found it
necessary to hire out as a carpenter on many building projects in the
region. He sawed boards for his new house and barn at the mill,
adding extra horsepower to his turbine from the axle of a Ford truck
belonging to another of his sons. O0Ozark neighborliness also endured.
Klepzig routinely bought "good boards" for use in building coffins for
his neighbors and he frequently ground corn without toll for neighbors
"on starvation."?

Walter moved to a new farm closer to a mail route in 1925, leaving the
Rocky Creek farm in the care of a son. The mill was operated through
1930, when vounger son Claude at fifteen years of age rented it from
his father for its last year of operation. His customers included
neighbors and transient timber workers who were "squatting"” on nearby
timber land and cutting trees for gasoline-powered portable saws set
up in the small hollows. In 1931, the whole place was rented out, and
in 1935 it was traded for land in Dent County. It was soon after
purchased by A.C. Brandt, a S8t. Louis electrical equipment supplier.
Brandt modernized the farm but only slightly affected the historic
fabric and landscape. In 1935-1936 the dam and race were improved and
the turbine well was covered by a vertical board "ell” added to the
mill shed. Later, new fences were added, wood roof shingles were
replaced with metal, additional farm buildings were constructed, and
the road in front of the house was moved a few yards toward the creek.
Additional acreage also was acquired. Claude Klepzig, who helped move
the Brandts from St. Louis, believes they came to the farm to retire.
"They just liked it down here. First they were coming down maybe once
or twice a year for a month or three weeks and then later moved
permanently down here.”? The Brandts represent a new invasion into
these rugged hills -- that of large, lasting outside influences.
Government was one of these, the influx of urban sportsmen and
recreationists another. Two changes to the farm reflect the
transition into the third period of Ozarks history -- the
"Cosmopolitan Ozarks" -- and the Brandts' purpose here. A new four-
bedroom house with a 38’ x 10’ "dormitory"” on the second floor was
built in 1936. The house was of a re-created rustic log construction
and was representative of numerous recreational and sporting lodges
and cabins built along the Current River in the early twentieth
century. The house was lighted by a generator which replaced the




NPS Form 10-Q00-4, OME Approver No. 10240018
(8-08)

United States Department of the interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Continuation Sheet

Section number ____ 8 Page ____ 3 Klepzig, Walter, Mill and Farm

grist milling equipment in the mill shed, the second significant
change. Walter Klepzig is the most significant of the two builders.

The Klepzig Mill

The mill, known as the Klepzig Mill, is significant on its own merits.
Constructed ¢. 1912 to replace an earlier mill building at the same
general site, it is representative ¢f the many grist mills which
dotted the Ozark landscape in the late nineteenth and early twentieth
centuries. Bach such mill reflected the environment and era in which
it was constructed and operated, the intentions of its owners, and the
needs of the surrcocunding populace.

Except in the case of the occasional steam-, and later, gasoline-
powered mills, a consistent source c¢f running water was required to
operate these rural mills. Such sources were plentiful in the spring-
rich Ozarks. But mill seats were also separated by the rugged terrain
which slowed cross-country traveling. The Klepzig Mill is located at
an ideal mill seat along a narrow section of Rocky Creek, where the
creek’'s waters drop through a series of narrow gorges, regionally
known as "shut-ins." The narrow gorge made damming the creek easier,
and the quick drop in elevation provided the required force to the
water’'s flow. Early mills on this site utilized a twelve-foot
overshot wheel to capture the water’'s energy. From 1912 to 193¢,
Walter Klepzig upgraded both the hydraulic system and the mill,
changes compatible with his progressive farming practices. The
improvements included the replacement of the wheel with a more modern
gecondhand turbine and the updating of the mill stones. He also
rebuilt the mill shed and later moved it adjacent to the new turbine
well to improve the efficiency of the power transfer to the stones.

The three-bushel-an-hour mill proevided additional income to its self-
sufficient-farmer owner. It served as a custom mill, grinding corn
into meal and returning all but a 1/8th toll to the customer. Klepzig
operated the mill three days each week, often from dawn to after
sunset on Saturdays, but business was sometimes much slower during the
week. His customers included farmersgs from a radius of mere than ten
miles, a common situation in the Southern Courtois Hills where mills
were often greater than fifteen miles apart. The improvements he made
perhaps made his a more popular mill and they allowed him to increase
the mill’s capacity. He also used the mill’'s power to operate a saw
and a shingle mill to produce materials for new structures on his
farm. After the farm and mill were sold to A.C. Brandt in 1935, the
turbine was used to power an electric generator housed in the mill
shed. The mill’s commercial potential was waning, as store-bought
meal was increasingly available and utilized, and flour was increasing
in popularity. The change represented not only the decreased demand
for corn milling, but also the intentions of occupancy of the new
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owner. Brandt, who was retiring here, found the shut-in area useful
for its beauty as well as its potential for power.

Architecture
The mill shed built by Klepzig was constructed in a vernacular style

regionally common during the timber era of 1889-192@. Known as
"sawmill"” and sometimes "hox" construction, the structure is built of
vertical boards and battens nailed to a top and bottom sill with no
framing. The style is also found in the farm’'s smokehouse and
springhouse, both constructed near the same time. This style of
construction is rare among extant mills. For professional historical
millwright Derek Ogden, the Klepzig mill is the only known example of
sawmill construction in a mill anywhere in the United States.’

Conclusion

A. C. Brandt’'s purchase and modification of the mill and farm
culminates the continuum of the complex from the 0ld COzarks Frontier -
~ the farm in its earliest form -- through the New South 0Ozarks
represented in the maximization of the farm’'s potential by McCaskill,
Sholar, and most completely by Klepzig, to the Cosmopolitan Ozarks
where change has come most rapidly to the region. The principal
features -~ mill seat; mill, dam, and race; Klepzig house foundation;
the outbuildings; and landscape -- remain in context to illustrate the
second phase and beginning of the third phase ¢of this continuum.

The key to the significance of this complex is in its integrity of
context. The mill was an important component to the farm’s "new
business order"” operation -- a part of its commercial activities,
benefitting both its owner and his customers. Both the farm and mill
were greatly influenced by the rugged topography of the immediate and
larger Qzark environment. The farm was limited in productivity by the
scarcity of arable land, as seen in the small acreage in crops
¢ompared to the large amount of less useful forest land. The forest
itself contributed to the farm’'s economy. Mills were necessarily
located according to environmental criteria, and it was natural that
owners of this property, when progress was sought, would seek to
¢apitalize on the commercial potential of a mill. It was also the
environment, with 1its rugged topography which limited access to the
mill, that prevented it from being a great commercial success while
allowing it to at least moderately increase the standard of living for
its owner. The farm with its mill most completely represents a rural
response to the New South Ozarks environment and also illustrates in
the moderate change in its use the threshold of the Cosmopolitan
Ozarks.
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1. Dr. Robert Flanders identifies these three periods as the 01d
Ozarks Frontier, the New South Ozarks, and the Cosmopolitan
Ozarks, in: Cultural Resources Qverview in the Mark Twain
National Forest, Missouri. {Center for Archeolegical Resources,
Southwest Missouri State University, Springfield, 1979) Vol. I,
App. G.

2. H.L. Clendenen, "Settlement Morphology o©f the Southern
Courtois Hills, Missouri, 1820-186@." {Unpublished Ph.D.
dissertation, Louisiana State University, 1973}, pp. 72-74.

3. Robert Flanders, "Alley, An Ozarks Hamlet, 189@-1925;

Seciety, Economy, Landscape.” (Center for Ozark Studies,
Southwest Missouri State University, Springfield, 1985), pp. 23-
24.

4. Claude Klepzig, Farmington, Missouri; personal interview with
James Corless, Historian, Ozark National Scenic¢ Riverways,
October 21, 1986.

5. Ibid.
6. Derek Ogden, "Klepzig Mill; Shannon County, Missouri.”

(Prepared for the National Park Service, Ozark Naticonal Scenic
Riverways, November, 1984.)
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10. Geographical Data
Acreage of property 121

UTM References
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Verbal Boundary Description In Shannon County, Missouri: A part of Sections > and b, both in
Township 28 North, Range 2 West of the Fifth Principal Meridian, being more particularly
described as: Ws L2 NW% Sec. 5, E% L1&2 NE% Sec. 6, and all that part of the NE% of the

SEY Sec. 6 described as follows: Beginning at the northwest corner of said northeast quarter
of the southeast quarter thence running 7 chains to the creek, thence south, 2 degrees east,
1.85 chains, thence south 84 degrees east, 7.71 chains to section line 6.34 chains to

beginning. []see continuation sheet

Boundary Justification The district is outlined by property lines consistent from 1909 to 1936,
as described above. The mill's significance is derived in great part from its place
within the greater farm complex (as described in Section 8). Equally, the farm's sig-
nificance is derived from the landscape, natural and cultural, which shaped it. Without
understanding the immediate environment -- the lack of large amounts of cultivatable
land on such a farm and the ruggedness of the immediate terrain —- the farm can not be
completely understood. Thus the landscape compon-[]See continuation sheet €S of what was
understood to be "the farm'" are included.
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Walter Klepzig Mill and Farm
Structural Cluster Map
{(with adijoining features)

Rocky Creek

= Contributing strucutre {1)

# Non-contributing structure (1)

) Features:
! 7!
c J * 1 - Klepzig Mill (LCS 06484)
%2 - Springhouse (LCS 06482)
#3 - Klepzig House Foundation (LOS 06476)
#4 - Barn Foundation (LCS 06479)
5 Stock Shed Site (LCS 07481)
Timber * 6 - Smokehouse (LCS 06480)
7 Brandt House Site
+8 Chicken Coop
9 Fallen Chicken Coop
10 Fallen Chicken Coop
\_ +11 - chicken Coop (Truck body)
N 12 Fallen Chicken Coop
_ ®13 - Farm Equipment Shed Ruins (LUS 06478)
=14 Cld Road Seqgments
ot to seate #ie T ban and Race (Counted with ML ¥

utes as part of pre-1935 road)
% Contributing building (3)
# Contributing site (3 - including
landscape elements)
+ Non-contributing building .2)
® Non-contributing site (1)
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The label information for elements 1,2,3, and 5 is c¢onsistent for all
photegraphs:

Klepzig, Walter, Mill and Farm
Eminence, Shannon County, Missouri
Photographer: James P. Corless
Negative: Ozark Natiocnal Scenic Riverways
P.0. Box 499
Van Buren, Missouri 63965

U W=

1. Xlepzig Mill

4. March 1988

6. Mill exterior (sketch map feature 1) from south (from
0old road)

Photograph 1-

Klepzig Mill

March 1988

Mill (feature 1), dam and race {(feature 15) in
foreground, from northwest

Photograph 2-

b

Klepzig Mill

October 19388

Mill (feature 1) interior, with view of upper turbine
shaft in forebay, generator platform, and corner of
meal box, from interior southeast corner

Photograph 3-

[oa Tl S o

Springhouse
December 1986
Springhouse (feature 2} from west

Photograph 4-

[ Y N

Photeograph 5- 1. Farm equipment shed ruins, smokehouse, landscape
elements

4. December 1986
6. Smokehouse (feature 6}, farm equipment shed ruins
(feature 13), tree and fence row, forested hillside
on north side of Rocky Creek, from south
Photograph 6- 1. Smokehouse and Klepzig House foundation
4, December 1986
6. Smokehouse (feature 6) with Klepzig House foundation

and chimney {feature 3), from northwest
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Photograph 7- 1.
4,
6.

Photograph 8-1.
4.
6.

Photograph 9- 1.
4.
6.

Present road

December 1986

BExisting dirt road {(feature 16) north of features 3,
5, and 4, from west

01d road segment

June 1938

Two parallel fence rows line the depression of pre-
Klepzig and Klepzig era road segment {feature 14)
west of Klepzig House (feature 3), from north from
present road (feature 16)

Rocky Creek

June 1988

Rocky gorge of creek immediately north of mill
{feature 1), illustrating the fall in elevation
providing for water power required to operate mill,
view from east (downstream)












































































































